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Larry Lipman, Chairman, Safestay

The Dining Room, Safestay London Elephant & Castle
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About Safestay
Setting a new standard in stylish, affordable and comfortable accommodation,
Safestay hostels are designed to appeal to a broad community of guests; from
school groups, young adults and backpackers, to families and savvy business
travelers. Safestay hostels offer great central locations, a range of accommodation
options to meet different needs and budgets and amazing social spaces all within
chic statement buildings with fabulous interiors and a high standard of facilities.
Chairman Larry Lipman adds, “We are delivering on our mission for Safestay
to be a game-changer, overturning existing perceptions of the hostel market
and exceeding expectations by offering a safe and stylish place to stay, while still
providing a range of extremely good value accommodation options, from private
en-suite rooms to larger dorms. With our great hostels in London, Edinburgh and
York we have established Safestay as the leading provider of premium hostel
accommodation in the UK.”
Safestay has quickly become a leading player in the premium hostels market and
has large-scale plans to expand into key gateway cities in Europe in the coming
years. The first Safestay hostel opened in London at Elephant & Castle in 2012.
2015 saw the launch of Safestay York in January, the opening of Safestay London
Holland Park in August following an extensive refurbishment programme and the
acquisition of Smart City Hostels by Safestay, Edinburgh in September. The Group
now comprises of four locations (three freehold and one long leasehold) with some
1,526 beds. The team is actively seeking new sites for further expansion.
In May 2014, Safestay achieved an industry first when it became the only hostel
group in the world to attain a successful listing on AIM, clearly demonstrating the
financial sector’s belief in this emerging market.
Safestay’s mission
To provide a consistently high quality product and standard of service, while still
preserving the ethos and character of individual hostels. Style, safety, comfort,
cleanliness and value for money are paramount; when guests stay at a Safestay
hostel they can expect to enjoy a safe and comfortable night’s sleep, as well as
socialising in the fabulous communal areas and making full use of the excellent
facilities available.
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Larry Lipman, Chairman, Safestay
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Safestay Hostels
Each Safestay hostel is individually designed to ensure that the building’s heritage
is preserved. Bright paint colours, eclectic furniture and contemporary art are then
added to create an exciting, stylish and comfortable interior.
Safestay hostels feature private double, twin rooms and family rooms, as well
as larger bunk rooms featuring 4, 6, 8 or 12 beds, most with en-suite shower
rooms. At Safestay London Holland Park, in addition to smaller private rooms,
there are a number of larger dorms, ranging from 15 beds to 33, due to the
character of the Grade 1 listed Jacobean building.
Safestay signature bunk beds come with individual reading lights and curtains for
extra privacy, as well as lockers to secure luggage and personal items. Electronic
key cards provide guests with additional security by controlling access to the
building, accommodation areas and dorms. Safestay team members are on site
24/7 to provide assistance to our guests and ensure they get the most out of their
stay with us.
Unlike budget hotel chains or private accommodation purchased through the likes
of Airbnb or Flipkey, each hostel boasts extensive open-plan communal areas
so guests can socialise and interact whenever they wish. Each of Safestay’s four
hostels has its own unique feel and charm, reflecting the city, location and building
location and heritage. All hostels offer free WiFi along with a range of guest
facilities and amenities including luggage stores and guest laundry. All hostels
provide breakfast and have food and drinks available all day. Additionally there
are computer areas, a library and communal outside space.
Safestay holds the sleep experience of our guests in high regard and has invested
in industry-leading bunk beds with high quality mattresses and branded linen.
Private rooms are equipped with plasma TVs and tea and coffee-making facilities.
Wi-Fi is freely available throughout all of our hostels.
Our receptions are staffed 24 hours a day by our team members who are always
happy to offer guests advice and support if needed. Our aim is to ensure they have
a safe and comfortable stay with us and get the most out of their visit to London,
York or Edinburgh.
With rates starting from just £18 per bed per night, savvy travellers across the
spectrum are increasingly seeking out luxury hostels for their design credentials
and communal vibe, as much as for their low prices. This is an emerging market
that looks set to transform the budget end of the hospitality industry.

The Dining Room, Safestay Holland Park
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The Daily Telegraph, 26 September 2015
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The Rise of the Premium Hostel
The accommodation sector is experiencing a period of rapid change. Overall
demand is growing, the way in which accommodation is being booked is
changing, and the accommodation options available to people is expanding.
Within this dynamic market place hostels offer guests a distinct experience
and investors attractive returns.
In the budget accommodation space Safestay hostels provide outstanding central
locations, a variety of accommodation options to meet customers’ needs and
budgets and, importantly, great social spaces to enjoy. This combination of
benefits positions Safestay hostels apart from traditional budget accommodation
options and the emergence of private accommodation available through the likes
of Airbnb, Flipkey and HomeAway.
The hostel sector continues to be dominated by independently owned backpacker
hostels however brands are emerging as the sector further develops and matures.
Safestay has a clear market position offering a premium hostel product, with the
quality, consistency and safety a brand can deliver which will increasingly
resonate with consumers.
Safestay became the first hostel group in the world to successfully list on AIM
on 2 May 2014, raising £4.8 million in the process. By the end of 2015 the group
has four hostels in operation in the UK and ambitious plans to expand within the
UK and move into key gateway cities throughout Europe.

The Pool Room, Safestay Holland Park
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VisitBritain online

Big Ben (Elizabeth Tower), London
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Safestay London
Elephant & Castle
Located in John Smith House (the
former Labour Party headquarters),
Safestay London Elephant & Castle
integrates the old and the new in all
aspects of its design and architecture.
Whilst preserving many of the original
features of the Grade II listed building,
the interiors are otherwise strikingly
contemporary with bright colours and
standout artwork by emerging artists,
such as Banksy prints and Britpop art.
The furniture is eclectic, with antique
mirrors and brown leather sofas
blending effortlessly with Tom Dixon
bell jars, acrylic chairs and bowler hat
light fixtures, to create a lively social
environment throughout the
communal areas.
Safestay London Elephant & Castle
is a great base for exploring all that
London has to offer. Elephant & Castle
has emerged as a development
hotspot and is enjoying significant
inbound investment and regeneration.
This is further underpinning the
strength of the location and value of
the freehold. The hostel is just a five

minute walk from Elephant & Castle
Underground Station just south of the
River Thames in Zone One. Many of
London’s most famous landmarks and
tourist attractions are only minutes
away, including Tower of London,
Natural History and Science Museums,
Oxford Street shopping, Madame
Tussauds, Covent Garden and the
Royal Palaces. In addition to these top
London hotspots, visitors can explore
the eclectic cultural scene of the local
area including cafés, artists’ studios
and Borough Market. The hostel is
also a short walk from the world
renown Ministry of Sound nightclub.
Safestay London Elephant & Castle
has a range of accommodation options
including 4, 6 and 8 bunk bedded
dorms with en-suite facilities, as well
as single, twin, double and family bunk
rooms with their own tea/coffeemaking facilities and large screen
televisions. Rates start from as little
as £18 per bed per night, with en-suite
doubles from £78 per room per night.
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The Guardian, 12 January 2015

Royal Albert Hall, Kensington
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Safestay London
Holland Park
Located in one of West London’s
most desirable and exclusive
neighbourhoods, Safestay London
Holland Park offers guests a unique
setting in which to relax and unwind
after enjoying all that London has
to offer.
Set within Holland Park, one of
London’s most prestigious parks, the
hostel is housed within the east wing
of the original Jacobean building,
Holland House, a listed building of
historical significance.
The comprehensive refurbishment was
completed in August 2015 which sees
the hostel occupy parts of the Grade II
building dating back to 1607 as well as
the 1950s’ extension, central courtyard
and private gardens.

With excellent transport links close
by, the hostel is a ten minute walk
to High Street Kensington, Notting Hill
and Portobello Road, and one tube
stop from Westfield Shopping Centre.
Many of London’s most popular tourist
attractions including the Natural
History Museum and the Science
Museum are also just minutes away
by tube.
Safestay London Holland Park offers
a range of accommodation options
from private en-suite doubles and
family rooms with their own tea/
coffee-making facilities and 40-inch
televisions, to larger dorms. Rates
start from an incredible £18 per bed
per night.
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The Sun, 1 February 2015

A York city clock, York
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Safestay
York
Safestay York officially opened
in January 2015 following a major
refurbishment. A magical blend
of tradition and modernity, Safestay
York is located in Micklegate House,
on Micklegate within the medieval
walls in the heart of York’s city centre.
The impressive Grade I listed Georgian
building was originally designed by the
famous architect John Carr of York and
is considered the most important
Georgian residence south west of the
River Ouse. Stand-out features include
the 18th century stone-flagged
entrance hall and the sweeping
staircase with its superb carved
balusters in front of a magnificent
arched window, and the stunning
Rococo ceiling featuring Shakespeare’s
head, believed to have been created
by the renowned Italian artist Cortese.
These features have been enhanced
with modern touches including
whimsical furnishings and bright
splashes of colour.

York is a tourist destination with broad
appeal and Safestay York makes an
ideal base for exploring the city’s
Roman, Viking, and Medieval heritage.
This grand walled city boasts a wealth
of attractions from the iconic York
Minster, the National Railway Museum,
Castle Museum and Clifford’s Tower.
These amazing tourist attractions are
complemented by a busy calendar of
events and festivals, a vibrant horse
racing calendar and a superb retail
and leisure offer.
Safestay York has a range of
accommodation options including
4 to 12 bed bunk dorms with en-suite
facilities, private rooms with twin
bunks and their own tea/coffeemaking facilities and 40-inch
televisions, as well as double rooms
with ornate antique 19th century beds.
Rates start from an incredible £18 per
bed per night, with en-suite double
rooms from £60 per room per night.
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Rita, Booking.com, 29 January 2016

* Trading comparison year on year October to December (2015 as Safestay hostel, 2014: pre-acquisition)

Edinburgh Castle, Edinburgh
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Smart City Hostels by
Safestay Edinburgh
Located on Blackfriars Street, just off
the Royal Mile in the heart of historic
Edinburgh, Smart City Hostels by
Safestay was acquired as a going
concern in September 2015. This
imposing hostel is the leading large
hostel in Edinburgh and enjoys a
fantastic location. The property has
272 hostel beds throughout the year,
a licensed stand-alone food and
beverage business trading as Bar 50
and leases 81 rooms to the University
of Edinburgh for the academic year
September through May. For the
months of June, July and August the
student rooms are converted to hostel
rooms increasing the capacity to 615
beds which complements the surge in
accommodation demand Edinburgh
enjoys each summer.
Hostel guests benefit from
complementary Wi-Fi throughout
the property and a range of guest
amenities including internet café,

luggage store, guest kitchen and
laundry. Hostel guests also enjoy the
relaxed environment of Bar 50 which
is licensed and open all day. The bar
is open to the public and is enjoyed by
the local student community. During
the Fringe Festival the bar is adapted
to be a venue for live comedy
performances.
The refurbishment of the hostel
is well progressed and scheduled
for completion in summer 2016.
Safestay Edinburgh has all ensuite
accommodation across a range
of dorm sized from private rooms
to a 12 bed dorm.
The superb location in the heart of
Edinburgh means hostel guests are
only a short walk from Edinburgh
Castle, Arthur’s Seat, Princes
Street and the fabulous museums,
tourist attractions and leisure offer
Edinburgh enjoys.
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Chairman’s Statement

Larry Lipman, Chairman

“In revenue terms we doubled the size
of the business in 2015 and we are
on track with the current sites to do
the same again in 2016. As with all
small, fast growing businesses, we
have had to invest in putting in place
the platform to support our growth
plans and we are already seeing
the benefits of that decision which
ensures that as new sites come into
the Group they can be efficiently and
effectively consolidated...”
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Operational Highlights

Financial Highlights

Opened Holland Park and acquired
Edinburgh, substantially increasing size
of the business to 1,526 beds up from 560
at the start of the year

Revenues increased to £4.0 million
(2014: £1.9 million) which only included
contributions from Edinburgh since
acquisition on 16 September and
Holland Park following its soft opening
in August

Elephant & Castle, our only year-on-year
comparable hostel, had another good year
showing increases in occupancy to 78.6%
(2014: 78.1%), average bed rate up by 5.7%
over the previous year and revenue per
available bed up 6.3%
In 2015, Safestay laid the foundations for
supporting a much larger enterprise through:
— Investing in the senior team with the
appointment to the Board of Philip Houghton
as Chief Executive together with the senior
management appointment of Mark Beveridge
as Finance Director
— Investing in a new systems infrastructure,
a new Group website and internet booking
engine, that has enabled the introduction of
dynamic pricing. This provides a strategic
platform to drive revenues and provide the
business with meaningful data to maximise
rate uplift opportunities in the future
— Investing in Revenue, Sales, Marketing
and Finance functions to build a scalable
business

EBITDA of £0.7 million (2014: £0.7 million)
driven through good trading performances
from more mature sites, the introduction
of two new sites and building of scalable
infrastructure
The Group’s freehold property assets
increased to £28.8 million
(2014: £14.9 million)
Loss before tax of £0.6 million
(2014: profit before tax of £0.1 million)
Net asset value per share increased
to 48p per share (2014: 45p per share)

Page 18 I Safestay plc Report and Financial Statements 2015

Chairman’s Statement
“...The pipeline of potential acquisitions
is in varying stages of interest.
Our objective remains to create a leading
contemporary hostel business under the
Safestay brand focused on the provision
of stylish and affordable accommodation.”
Introduction
I am very pleased to be able to present the results for the
12 months to 31 December 2015 which show the Safestay
portfolio of hostels expanding rapidly and establishing the
base to support a much larger business.
At the end of 2015 Safestay was trading from four hostels
(two in London, one in York and one in Edinburgh) comprising
1,526 beds, up from 560 beds at the start of the year.
Demand is good and, we believe, set to increase as interest
in alternatives to traditional hotel accommodation grows.
The rise of online offerings such as Airbnb and Flipkey
alongside the contemporary hostel sector has helped greatly,
as this has further educated the travelling population that
there are good, certainly more affordable and perhaps better
accommodation alternatives in great locations.
Safestay therefore welcomes the disruption of the status quo
amongst the hotel industry, as we believe we are well placed
to compete, by offering great locations, and a range of
accommodation options to meet the needs and budgets of
a broad range of customers. Combining this with great social
spaces sets the Safestay offer apart from the budget hotels
and private residences.
We are well placed to utilise our knowledge and expertise
to build a scalable business and our track record of acquiring
real estate gives Safestay a significant commercial advantage
over our competitors.
We believe the premium hostel segment is a very exciting
opportunity. We continue the process of educating the external
market as to the advantages of staying at a premium hostel
and thanks to our efforts to date, premium hostels are rapidly
gaining momentum across the consumer and investor
communities.

For the year to 31 December 2015, the Group generated
revenues of £4.0 million compared to £1.9 million in the prior
year. During the year under review, the new sites in Holland
Park and Edinburgh contributed for just over 4 and 3 months
respectively.
Investment in the development of infrastructure of the
business to support its future growth has meant the Group
reported a loss before tax of £0.6 million compared to a pre-tax
profit of £0.1 million in the previous year. The investment was
spread across the business and aimed at enabling the Group
to manage the expected increase in the number of hostels it
operates. As a consequence, the Company recorded a loss per
share of 2.5p compared with a profit of 1.3p per share in 2014.
The Group now consists of three freehold properties and
one leasehold property. As at 31 December 2015, its freehold
property portfolio was valued at £28.8 million (2014: £14.9
million). In addition, the Group’s interest in the leasehold
property is carried as a finance lease at £12.7 million
(2014: £nil).
As at 31 December 2015, the Company had gross bank and
loan note borrowings of £18.3 million (2014: £9.3m) secured
against its freehold properties with an average weighted
interest cost of 4.05%.
Gearing, measured as the proportion of total liabilities
less trade and other payables and derivative financial
instruments as a proportion of total shareholder’s equity
is 1.72 (2014: 1.05).
We continue to focus on investment in the business to help
drive growth and deliver on our strategy. As a result, the
Directors have not recommended the payment of a dividend
for the year (2014: 0.3 pence per share).

Financial Results

Key achievements in 2015

The results we are reporting are for the year ended
31 December 2015. During this time the Elephant & Castle
and York hostels have had a full year’s trading whilst the
Holland Park and Edinburgh hostels are part year, coinciding
with the phased opening through August and acquisition on
16 September respectively.

2015 was a transformational year for Safestay since the
demerger in 2014 when the business became an AIM-listed
hostel group. The addition of trading hostels in London
Holland Park and Edinburgh complemented the existing
properties in London Elephant & Castle and York perfectly.
These hostels position Safestay as the leading premium hostel
group in the UK offering 1,526 beds in key gateway cities.
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Elephant & Castle had another good year showing increases
in occupancy to 78.6% (2014: 78.1%) and average bed rate up
by 5.7% over the previous year.
Our smallest site in York improved upon its first half
performance benefitting from focused management activity
and an expanded marketing programme. In its first full year’s
trading, occupancy was up to 50.3% (2014 was not
comparable) and a strong average bed rate. The site made
a positive contribution to the Group and has the scope for
further improvement.
The year saw the opening of Safestay London Holland Park
and the acquisition of Smart City Hostels, Edinburgh. The
major refurbishment works in Holland Park were completed
in August and early indications are positive. As a new opening
it takes time to mature the business (typically three years) with
early adopters being predominantly independent travellers,
given that group enquiries have a longer lead time. Guest
satisfaction at Holland Park in Q4 of 2015 was the strongest
across all Safestay properties (source: Renivate post-stay net
promoter score) and group enquiries for 2016 and beyond
gives confidence in the trading outlook as the business
matures through 2016/17.
The Edinburgh hostel was acquired in September and trades
as Smart City Hostels by Safestay, Edinburgh. The majority
of the refurbishment works are complete with the balance
scheduled to be concluded shortly after the student rooms are
released back to the business in May (part of the hostel is
currently converted to student accommodation and rented to
the University of Edinburgh during the academic year). Trading
post-acquisition has been very encouraging with the hostel
benefiting from management focus and the synergies from
the London hostels and group-wide contracts. Enhanced
revenues have been complemented with the realisation of
a number of cost savings as the hostel has been integrated
into Safestay’s infrastructure.
In Q4 Safestay introduced a new property management system,
web site and internet booking engine which went live at the
end of January 2016. These tools will allow Safestay to
consolidate processes across the hostels, unlocking further
revenue potential and the ability to reduce the cost of
acquisition by building the brand equity and increasing the
proportion of direct business. In order to unlock this potential

the Sales, Marketing and Revenue Management functions
have been strengthened with key management appointments.
A core part of Safestay’s success is our property expertise.
The ability to source the right properties on competitive terms
is critical to the growth agenda. Our track record of acquiring
real estate gives Safestay a significant commercial advantage
as well as underpinning the value of the company. 2015 has
reinforced this point with a favourable long leasehold achieved
underpinning Safestay London Holland Park and the freehold
acquisition of Smart City Hostels, Edinburgh.
In preparing Safestay for accelerated growth into key European
gateway cities the group has been strengthened by the senior
management appointment of Mark Beveridge as Finance
Director in November 2015. Mark joins Safestay from
InterContinental Hotels Group (IHG) plc as Director of
Corporate Finance where he notably supported their growth
agenda in the EMEA region. Since joining Mark has
strengthened Safestay’s finance function which will underpin
driving enhanced trading performance from the existing
portfolio and supporting the growth activity.

Outlook
Safestay has grown rapidly through 2015 adding in two new
hostels and in so doing becoming the UK’s leading premium
hostel Group. The changes we have made to our systems,
people and processes provide us with the platform to drive
additional value from our existing portfolio and absorb new
properties. The Board remains confident in our trading outlook
for 2016.
We are currently sourcing new opportunities both in the UK
and principal cities across Europe that are popular with our
target markets.
We look forward with confidence to an exciting and profitable
journey ahead.

Larry Lipman
Chairman
11 April 2016
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Strategic Report

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Group comprises the operation
of upmarket backpacker tourist hostels under the Safestay
brand in properties that are either owned or occupied on
long leasehold.

The business model
The Safestay business model is to develop and operate a brand
of contemporary hostels in the UK and key strategic cities in
Europe. The Safestay brand is positioned at the premium end
of the hostel spectrum appealing to a broad range of guests.
Core elements of the model are:
•

Development – Identifying potential properties in target
cities, acquiring the properties and their contemporary,
stylish refurbishment to fit with the brand

•

Operational – Providing comfortable, safe and enjoyable
stay in our hostels for a reasonable price with a focus
on customer satisfaction and repeat stays

•

Brand – Building the Safestay brand equity

•

Scale – Building the platform to efficiently add further
hostels to the Group

•

People – Investing in the right people

Review of business and future prospects
Safestay London Elephant & Castle and Safestay York enjoyed
uninterrupted trading through to the financial year ended
31 December 2015. Safestay London Holland Park benefitted
from extensive refurbishment works and started trading
in part on 17 August. The hostel was fully operating on
30 September with 351 beds available when the Grade 1
listed building works were completed. Smart City Hostels
by Safestay was acquired on 16 September and has continued
to trade whilst refurbishment and rebranding works were
undertaken.
The underlying business has met expectations with revenues
of £4.0 million (2014: £1.9 million) and a trading EBITDA of
£0.7 million (£0.7 million) for the period 1 January through
to 31 December 2015. 2015 has been a pivotal year for
Safestay which has seen it transform from a business with
two individual hostels into a Group of four properties,
positioning it as the UK’s leading premium hostel business.
The addition of the new hostels has been complemented with
the investment into a new Group wide web site, internet
booking engine and property management system, the senior
management appointment of Mark Beveridge as Finance
Director and the strengthening of the Sales, Marketing,
Revenue and Finance teams.

These fundamental changes have been delivered against
a backdrop of driving ongoing performance from the existing
hostels and controlling head office costs. The Board are
satisfied this transition has been well executed and recognise
the business is in a good position to both drive core trading
performance and ably absorb new hostels as and when they
are acquired.
Safestay’s business, with strong assets in good condition that
command premium locations, is well positioned to compete
in the markets in which it currently operates. Safestay’s key
source markets of youth groups and independent youth
travellers are predicted to grow (source: WYSE Travel
Confederation) and supply remain constrained (Savills 2016),
notably in London where barriers to entry are high.
Safestay also aims to deliver consistently high levels of guest
service through a continuous focus on guest satisfaction.
This is measured through the adoption of market leading
software to measure post stay guest satisfaction in addition
to monitoring public platforms that publish reviews from both
our guests and our competitor’s. This data enables the
management teams to proactively address any guest service
issues as the business strives to consistently improve the
levels of guest satisfaction.
Safestay has proven itself to be resilient to market shocks
(such as the recent terror events in Paris and Brussels and
significant movements in currency exchange rates) reinforcing
the potential risks the business faces and the benefits of a
broad consumer base which helped Safestay to minimise the
financial impact of such events.
Safestay’s ambition to further grow the portfolio is increasingly
attractive and new opportunities in European gateway cities
and London are being pursued.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties that could potentially
have an impact on the Group’s performance are detailed
below.
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Cara, Aer Lingus In-Flight Magazine, February/March 2016

“Affordable chic is the name of the
game at Safestay Holland Park”

Business risk

Financial risk

Safestay operates in the hospitality industry which, over the
years, has experienced fluctuations in trading performance.
Traditionally, the hotel sector’s performance has tracked
macro-economic trends, feeling the strain during the
economic downturn and is more buoyant during recovery.
The hostel sector, which leans more heavily on leisure
travellers and has a lower price point, has proved more
resilient and has delivered more robust cash flows through
the economic cycle and has quickly recovered from isolated
terror acts which may limit travel in the short term.

Safestay uses bank debt to partially fund the freehold interest
in the Elephant & Castle, York and Edinburgh hostels and part
refurbishment of Holland Park. These loans have variable
interest rates which track LIBOR. Any increases in LIBOR will
increase the cost of these loans and therefore impact the net
profit of the business. This risk has been partially mitigated by
the use of interest rate swaps and caps.

A proportion of Safestay’s business comes from Europe,
including a number of school groups. The business is
therefore susceptible to changes in the source market,
schools’ education and travel policies as well as exchange
rate fluctuations.
Whilst demand in Safestay’s markets is projected to strengthen,
the provision of new supply will dilute the trading performance
within the competitor set. It should be recognised the barriers
to entry are quite high with the availability of suitable real
estate limited. Safestay’s defence to such threats is the
combination of our premium locations and high standard of
accommodation and operations. As supply increases, the
business’ focus on revenue, customer service, and sales and
marketing activity is key in order to protect and grow market
share, brand loyalty and reputation.
Safestay’s new property management system is deployed via
SaaS (software as a service). As such the Group is dependent
on robust internet connectivity and the resilience of the
provider’s third party data centre and back-up protocols to
operate. Whilst the arrangement carries risks, these are
deemed to be reduced when compared to an in-house option
which would lead to higher management overhead costs for
the business. The other systems used are not deemed to be
business critical.
Safestay’s ambition is to expand our portfolio of hostels in key
gateway cities both in the UK and across Europe. Accessing
opportunities at the right price and in the right locations is,
by its nature, an opportunistic exercise. Whilst the leadership
team has an excellent track record in securing properties to
support business growth, there is no guarantee that future
opportunities can be secured.

The determining factor in Safestay’s ability to acquire further
hostels is governed by cash reserves and the ability to raise
additional equity and debt. As such, there may be times when
opportunities cannot be taken advantage of due to funds not
being available or allocated elsewhere. Strict financial controls
are in place to ensure that monies cannot be expended above
the available limits or to breach any banking covenants.
A proportion of Safestay’s business comprises group bookings
and there is a risk of booking cancellations which will leave
the hostel with unforeseen beds to sell at relatively short
notice. To offset this risk, all group bookings require a
non-refundable deposit of 10% at time of confirmation and
staged payments in advance of the group arrivals.
Except for a small number of credit sales for which applied
credit limits are verified through external sources, Safestay
has a policy of full payment upfront for guests staying which
is the norm for hostels. As such there are negligible trade
receivable risks.
Approved by the board of Directors and signed on behalf
of the board.

Larry Lipman
Chairman
11 April 2016
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Board of Directors & Senior Management

From left to right:
Mark Beveridge
Finance Director &
Company Secretary

Larry Lipman
Chairman

Philip Houghton
Chief Executive Officer

Stephen Moss
Non-executive Director
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The Lounge, Safestay Holland Park
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the company together with the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015.

Directors
The directors who have served in the period to 31 December 2015 were as follows:
Larry Lipman
Colin Stone
Philip Houghton
Stephen Moss

(appointed 29 January 2014)
(appointed 29 January 2014, resigned 13 November 2015)
(appointed 3 June 2015)
(non-executive, appointed 19 March 2014)

None of the directors are required to retire by rotation. Philip Houghton, who has been appointed by the Board since the last
AGM, offers himself for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
The Board also wishes to thank Colin Stone for his service to the Group.

Directors’ biographies
Larry Lipman
Chairman

Stephen Moss
Non-Executive Director

Larry Lipman (aged 59) has been the main driving force
behind the Safestay business since its establishment.
He is responsible for the Group’s strategy and business
development. He has extensive experience of the property
market, gained during the last thirty years or so, throughout
which he has been the managing director of Safeland plc,
where his primary focus is on trading opportunities and the
assessment of potential investments and refurbishment
projects. He was also a key executive in each of Safeland’s
previous demergers and in each case he continued after the
demerger to be closely involved with the growth of those
businesses as well as continuing to manage the core
businesses of Safeland.

Stephen Moss (aged 61) is Chairman of three companies:
Grosvenor Securities Limited, a central London commercial
property investment and development company; Bibendum
PLB Group Limited; and Bonasystems Europe Limited,
a leading floor care and anti-slip specialist serving the hotel,
leisure and transport sector. Until 2008, he was Managing
Director of BCP Airport Parking which he had grown to
become one of the leading booking agents for travel
ancillaries via a mix of internet bookings and distribution
agreements with leading travel agents, tour operators and
airlines including Tui, Thomas Cook and Ryanair. Stephen
founded Springboard in 1990, a charity which promotes
careers in hospitality, leisure and tourism, of which he
remains Chairman, and its board and corporate partners
include many of the UK’s leading hotel groups. In 1992
he was awarded an MBE for services to the restaurant
industry and, in 2002, a CBE for his contribution towards
education and training.

Philip Houghton
Chief Executive Officer
Philip Houghton (age 49) was appointed to the Board as Chief
Executive of the Group on 3 June 2015. He has a significant
hospitality background and experience to take the Safestay
brand to the next stage of its development. Prior to joining
Safestay, Philip was a founding Director of Starboard Hotels,
a private property and hospitality management company,
which owns and operates hotels under franchise from both
InterContinental Hotels Group (IHG) and Wyndham Hotel
Group (WYN), and specialises in hotel and hostel development,
ownership and operations. He successfully led the business
through its start-up stage to an established and respected
organisation within the hospitality sector. Previously, Philip
held various roles at Allied Brewers plc, Bass plc and at
Whitbread plc where he also consulted before taking on a
similar role at Dixons Retail plc. Philip is an Honours graduate
of the University of Strathclyde, has an MBA and is Chair
of both STAYWYSE and WYSTC (associations charged with
raising the profile of the global youth accommodation and
youth travel sectors).

Mark Beveridge
Finance Director
Mark Beveridge (age 56) joined the Group on 3 November 2015
as Finance Director, reporting to the Board. He was, until
recently, a director of corporate finance at Intercontinental
Hotels Group. Previously, Mark was a director of finance at
Marriott Vacation Club International in Europe, then a strategic
business unit of Marriott International Inc. and prior to that
was head of overseas finance and accounting and later head
of corporate finance at Thomson Holidays Limited. Mark
qualified as a chartered accountant at PWC in 1986.
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Directors’ Report
Directors’ interests in shares
The following directors directly own share capital of the company:
Ordinary shares of 1p each
Fully paid
Number

Percentage
%

Mr S D Moss

83,333

0.2

Mr L G Lipman

56,055

0.2

Mr L G Lipman also owns one-third of the share capital of Safeland Holdings (2008) Corporation (“SHC”) a corporation
incorporated in Panama and 1.7% of Safeland plc. SHC owned 2,524,250 ordinary shares in the Company, representing
7.4% of the Company’s shares in issue as at 31 December 2015. SHC owned 69.8% of Safeland plc, a company incorporated
in the UK. Safeland plc owned 1,420,864 ordinary shares of the Company, representing 4.2% of the Company’s shares in issue
at 31 December 2015.
Directors’ interests in options over the equity share capital of the company at 31 December 2015 were as follows:

Granted

Forefeited

At 31
December
2015

Larry Lipman

396,521

-

396,521

50p

02/05/2017

01/05/2024

Colin Stone

132,173

132,173

-

-

-

-

Philip Houghton

132,000

-

132,000

56p

03/06/2018

02/06/2025

Exercise
price

Exercisable
from

Exercisable
to

Other substantial shareholdings
The Company had been notified of the following shareholdings which constitute three per cent or more of the total issued
ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 December 2015.
Ordinary shares of 1p each
Fully paid
Number

Percentage
%

Miton Group plc

7,370,269

21.5

River & Mercantile Asset Management Limited

2,600,000

7.6

Safeland Holdings (2008) Corporation

2,524,250

7.4

Standard Life Investments Limited

1,935,485

5.7

Bredbury Limited

1,612,905

4.7

Ord Minnett Limited

1,432,500

4.2

Safeland PLC

1,420,864

4.2

Oryx International Growth Fund Limited

1,250,000

3.7

Aberdeen Holdings Limited

1,195,160

3.5

GHC Capital Markets Limited

1,038,249

3.0
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Dividends

Conflicts of interest

The Directors have not recommended the payment
of a dividend for the year (2014: 0.3 pence per share).

Under the articles of association of the Company and in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006,
a director must avoid a situation where he has, or can have,
a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may
conflict with the Company’s interests. However, the directors
may authorise conflicts and potential conflicts, as they deem
appropriate. As a safeguard, only directors who have no
interest in the matter being considered will be able to take
the relevant decision, and the directors will be able to impose
limits or conditions when giving authorisation if they think this
is appropriate. During the financial period ended 31 December
2015, the directors have authorised no such conflicts or
potential conflicts in accordance with the above procedures.

Financial instruments
The Group’s policy on financial instruments is stated
in note 28 to these financial statements.

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’
Report, Strategic Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. The directors are required
to prepare consolidated accounts under International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the
company and Group for that period. In preparing these
financial statements, the directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

•

make judgments and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements;

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the company and enable them
to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

Statement of disclosure of information to the auditor
•

So far as each of the directors currently in office
is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

•

Each of the directors has taken all the steps that ought
to have been taken as a director to make himself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor
The auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP, will be proposed for
reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the
Companies Act 2006.
Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf
of the Board.

Larry Lipman
Chairman
11 April 2016
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Introduction
This report describes how the Board has applied the principles
of good governance relating to Directors’ remuneration during
the period ended 31 December 2015.

Remuneration committee
The duties of the Remuneration Committee are performed
by the board as a whole. The Committee determines on behalf
of the shareholders, the Company’s policy for the level of
remuneration for the executive directors.

Remuneration policy on executive directors’
remuneration
Executive remuneration packages are designed to attract,
motivate and retain directors of the high calibre required
and to reward them for enhancing value to shareholders.
The performance measurement of both executive and
non-executive directors and the determination of their annual
remuneration package is undertaken by the Committee.

2. Performance related bonuses are assessed annually and
are based on a combination of individual and corporate
performances during the preceding financial year. During
the current year Mr L Lipman and Mr P Houghton
received bonuses, included in salaries and fees.
No bonuses were paid in the prior year.
3. Share options.
The remuneration package for Executive Directors also
includes benefits in kind such as cars, fuel and health
insurance.
It is the Company’s policy that its executive directors may take
up outside directorships where it is considered that the
appointment would not impinge on their employment with the
Company. Individuals may retain any remuneration received
from such services.

Directors’ service contracts

There are three main elements of the remuneration package
for executive directors and senior managers:

Mr L Lipman, Mr P Houghton and Mr S Moss hold rolling
service contracts with a three month notice period.

1. Basic salary is determined by the Remuneration
Committee at the beginning of each year and when
an individual changes position or responsibility.
Appropriate salary levels are set by reference to the
performance, experience and responsibilities of each
individual concerned and having regard to the prevailing
market conditions.

The directors’ service contracts contain no provision for fixed
termination payments.

Share price
The Company has a single class of ordinary shares listed on
the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange. High and low
prices for the period were 78.0p and 55.0p respectively and the
market price of the shares at 31 December 2015 was 56.5p.
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Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments of the directors of the Company for the period ended 31 December 2015 were as follows:
Salary and
fees
£’000

Benefits
in kind
£’000

2015
Total
£’000

2014
Total
£’000

L G Lipman

14

–

14

1

C M Stone

2

–

2

1

P J Houghton

82

10

92

–

Non-executive director
S D Moss

20

–

20

20

118

10

128

22

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the board.

Larry Lipman
Chairman
11 April 2016
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Corporate Governance
Directors

Going concern

During the period ended 31 December 2015 the Group was
controlled by its Board of Directors which consisted of between
two and three executives and one non-executive director.
Mr L Lipman is Chairman of the Board.

The Directors report that, based on the Group’s budgets
and financial projections to 30 April 2017, they have satisfied
themselves that the business is a going concern. The Board
has a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group
have adequate resources and facilities to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and therefore the accounts
are prepared on the going concern basis.

Each member of the Board is subject to the re-election
provisions of the Articles of Association, which requires them
to offer themselves for re-election at least once every three
years. In the event of a proposal to appoint a new director,
this would be discussed at a full Board meeting, with each
member being given the opportunity to meet the individual
concerned prior to any formal decision being taken.
Due to the small size of the Board, it is considered
inappropriate to establish a Nomination Committee.
Consequently, these duties are performed by the Board
as a whole.

Non-executive director
Mr S D Moss acts as the company’s Non-executive Director.
Mr Moss is available to meet shareholders on request and
to ensure that the Board is aware of shareholder concerns
not resolved through existing mechanisms for investor
communication.
The Non-executive Director constructively challenges and
helps develop proposals on strategy through attendance at
Board meetings and regular dialogue with the executive
directors. He also ensures that robust internal controls exist
and monitors management performance against agreed goals
and objectives.

Directors’ remuneration
The Executive Directors’ remuneration consists of a package
of basic salary, benefits in kind and bonuses, which are linked
to corporate and individual performance achievements and the
levels of each are determined by the Board. The statement of
remuneration policy and details of each director’s remuneration
are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group has in
place a system of internal control. In this context, control is
defined as those policies and processes established to ensure
that business objectives are achieved cost effectively, assets
and shareholder value are safeguarded, and laws, regulations
and policies are complied with. Controls can provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance that risks are identified
and adequately managed to achieve business objectives and to
minimise material errors, losses and fraud or breaches of
laws and regulations. The system of internal control is
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives.

Auditor
The Board is responsible for the relationship with the Group’s
auditor, the in-depth review of the Group’s financial reports,
internal controls and any other reports that the Group may
circularise. This includes a review of the cost effectiveness
of the audit and non-audit services provided to the Group.
The Board monitors the non-audit services being provided to
the Group by its external auditors on a regular basis to check
that these services do not impair their independence or
objectivity. Prior approval of the Board is required for activities
which may be perceived to be in conflict with the role of the
external auditor.
Details of the amounts paid to the external auditor during the
year for audit and other services are set out in the notes to the
financial statements.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
By order of the Board.

Larry Lipman
Chairman
11 April 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Safestay plc
Report of the Independent Auditor to the Members of
Safestay plc

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

We have audited the financial statements of Safestay plc for
the period ended 31 December 2015 which comprise the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated and Company
statement of financial position, the consolidated and Company
statement of changes in equity, the consolidated and Company
statement of cash flows and the related notes, The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation
of the Group and Company financial statements is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union.

In our opinion the information given the Chairman’s
Statement, Strategic Report, Directors’ Report, Directors’
Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.

This report is made solely to the company’s members,
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,
in our opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•

the parent company financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified
by law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities
Statement set out on page 29, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility
is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards
for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements
is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of the Group’s
loss for the year then ended;

•

the Group and company financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union; and

•

the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006

Philip Westerman
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London
11 April 2016
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Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 31 December 2015

Note

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Revenue
Cost of sales

2
3

4,023
(486)

1,938
(204)

Gross profit
Administrative expenses

4

3,537
(3,327)

1,734
(1,154)

Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs

5
6

210
1
(821)

580
1
(444)

(Loss) / Profit before tax
Tax

8

(610)
8

137
(22)

(Loss) / Profit for the financial year / period
attributable to owners of the parent company

7

(602)

115

10
10

(2.52p)
(2.52p)

1.29p
1.18p

Basic (Loss) / earnings per share
Diluted (Loss) / earnings per share

There is no difference between the diluted loss per share and the basic loss per share presented. Due to the loss incurred in the
year the effect of the share options in issue is anti-dilutive.
The revenue and operating result for the period is derived from acquired and continuing operations in the United Kingdom.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2015

(Loss) / Profit for the year / period
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Revaluation of freehold land and buildings
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the period
attributable to owners of the parent company

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

(602)

115

152

206

(450)

321
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2015

Note

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

12
13
13

42,327
1,352
525

15,000
–
–

44,204

15,000

19
594
–
20
1,060

4
167
21
7
3,310

1,693

3,509

45,897

18,509

693
65
1,062

1,314
–
662

1,820

1,976

17,391
10,196
36

7,786
–
46

Total non-current liabilities

27,623

7,832

Total liabilities

29,443

9,808

Net assets

16,454

8,701

342
14,504
1,772
23
358
(545)

192
6,410
1,772
6
206
115

16,454

8,701

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Stock
Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents

14
19
29
15

Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Loans and overdrafts
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payables

17
18
16

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Bank loans and convertible loan notes
Finance lease obligations
Derivative financial instruments

Equity
Share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Share based payment reserve
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent company

17
18
29

20
21
22
23

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 April 2016.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

Larry Lipman
Chairman
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
31 December 2015

Share
Based
Payment Revaluation
Reserve
Reserve
£’000
£’000

Share
Capital
£’000

Share
Premium
Account
£’000

Merger
Reserve
£’000

Balance as at
29 January 2014

–

–

–

–

Comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income

–
–

–
–

–
–

Total comprehensive income

–

–

192

Retained
Earnings
£’000

Total
Equity
£’000

–

–

–

–
–

–
206

115
–

115
206

–

–

206

115

321

6,410

1,172

–

–

–

8,374

–

–

–

6

–

–

6

192

6,410

1,772

6

206

115

8,701

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
152

(602)
–

(602)
152

Total comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

152

(602)

(450)

150
–

8,094
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
(58)

8,244
(58)

–

–

–

17

–

–

17

342

14,504

1,772

23

358

(545)

16,454

Transactions with owners
Issue of shares
Share based payment
charge for the period
Balance at 31
December 2014

Transactions with owners
Issue of shares
Dividend paid
Share based payment
charge for the period
Balance at
31 December 2015

Dividends paid in the year relate to the dividends declared of 0.3 pence share in the previous year.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2015

Note

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

24

643

639

643

639

1

1

(4,082)

(2,724)

(14,150)

–

–

(5,320)

(18,231)

(8,043)

10,500

9,917

Operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Net cash generated from operating activities
Investing activities
Interest received
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of business

28

Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Financing activities
New loans
Loan arrangement fees

(81)

(226)

8,535

8,114

(1,041)

(1,549)

Dividend paid

(58)

–

Interest paid

(620)

(356)

Loan repayments

(1,897)

(5,186)

Net cash generated from financing activities

15,381

10,714

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year / period
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

3,310
(2,250)

–
3,310

1,060

3,310

Issue of ordinary shares for cash
Fees related to the issue of shares

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year / period

15
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2015

1. Accounting policies for the group and company financial statements
Safestay plc is listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange and was incorporated and is domiciled in the UK.
The Group and company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs). The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopted by the European Union
and therefore the Group financial statements comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS regulation.
The financial statements have been presented in sterling, prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
revaluation of freehold properties and certain financial instruments.

Going concern
The directors report that, based on the Group’s budgets and financial projections to 30 April 2017, they have satisfied
themselves that the business is a going concern.
Therefore the Board has a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group have adequate resources and facilities
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and have prepared the accounts on the going concern basis.
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The Group’s financial statements consolidate those of the company and its subsidiaries, together referred to as the Group made
up to 31st December.
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has power, directly or indirectly, to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date it ceases. All inter Group
transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date.

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. A review of the goodwill will be carried out annually.

Operating segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision makers, who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, have been identified as the executive directors. Currently there is only one operating segment, which is
the operation of hostel accommodation in the UK.

Revenue
Revenue is stated net of VAT and comprises revenues from overnight hostel accommodation, income from the rental of student
accommodation during the academic year and the sale of ancillary goods and services. Accommodation and the sale of ancillary
goods and services is recognised when provided. Income from the rent of student accommodation is recognised on a straight
line basis over the academic year to which the rent relates.
The sale of ancillary goods comprises sales of food, beverages and merchandise.
Deferred income comprises deposits received from customers to guarantee future bookings of accommodation. This is
recognised as revenue once the bed has been occupied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2015
Leases
The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the group at the present value of the lease payments at the
inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction in lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.
All other leases are classified as operating leases. Operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight line
basis over the life of the lease.

Property, plant and equipment
Freehold property is stated at fair value and revalued annually. Valuation surpluses and deficits arising in the period are
included in other comprehensive income. Fixtures fittings and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation and are
depreciated over their useful lives. The applicable useful lives are as follows:
Fixtures, fittings and equipment

3 years

Freehold properties

50 years

Leasehold properties

50 years

Assets held as finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their expected useful lives on the same
basis as owned assets.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
At each statement of financial position date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease, but a negative revaluation reserve is not created.
For revalued assets, where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit)
in prior years. Any remaining balance of the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. For assets
carried at cost, any reversals of impairments are recognised in the income statement.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised and measured at fair market value.
Where an intangible has a determinable finite useful life, the intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over that
useful life. The applicable useful life is 8 years for the life of the interest in the head lease.

Operating profit
Operating profit is stated before exceptional items, finance income, finance cost and tax.

Dividends
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved
in a general meeting prior to the reporting date.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and which form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the statement of cash flows.

Borrowings
Borrowings other than bank overdrafts are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings, using the effective interest
method.
Financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible loan notes that can either be repaid in cash, or be converted
to a fixed number of shares at the option of the loan note holder. These financial instruments are recognised in liabilities.
Loan notes with no option to be converted to share capital and that will be repaid in cash are recognised in liabilities.

Loan arrangement fees
Loan arrangement fees are amortised over the term of the loan to which they relate.

Stock
Stock is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are
recognised in profit and loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Equity
The total equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent comprises the following:

Share Capital
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares issued.

Share premium account
Share premium represents amounts subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value less the related costs of share
issues.

Merger reserve
Merger reserve represents amounts subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value exchanged for the shares in the
acquisition of a subsidiary company.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings represent undistributed cumulative earnings.

Equity Instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Share based payments
The equity settled share based payment reserve arises as the expense of issuing share-based payments is recognised over
time. The reserve will fall as share options vest and are exercised but the reserve may equally rise or might see any reduction
offset, as new potentially dilutive share options are issued. Balances relating to share options that lapse after they vest are
transferred to retained fair value of employee services determined by reference to transfer of instruments granted.
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share based payment to share options. The fair value of the share options are
determined at the grant date and are expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.
Fair value is measured by use of the Black Scholes model. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects on non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

Derivative financial instruments
None of the Group’s derivative financial instruments are designated as a hedging instrument. The derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently re-measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in fair value of the derivatives are taken to the income statement.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement
of financial position date.
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the statement of financial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised on the basis of tax losses enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. Deferred tax
is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive
income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation and uncertainty
The fair value of the Group’s property is the main area within the financial information where the Directors have exercised
significant estimates.
•

The fair value of the Group’s property portfolio is based upon an external valuation and is inherently subjective. Details
of the methodology of property valuations are detailed in note 12.

•

The Holland Park lease showed indicators that it could be treated as either a finance or operating lease. The Group’s
decision to treat it as a finance lease was based on a balanced judgment of relevant factors. Furthermore, the fair value
of the Group’s finance lease asset is inherently subjective. The methodology applies a discount rate to the future lease
payments to approximate to the fair value of the asset. Details of the methodology of property valuations are detailed
in note 12.

•

The Smart City hostel in Edinburgh was acquired in a competitive market and supported by an external valuation.
The allocation of the acquisition price to each asset class in combining with the Group is subjective. Details of valuation
is set out in note 26.
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2. Revenue

Hostel accommodation
Food and Beverages sales
Other income

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

3,531
353
139

1,861
56
21

4,023

1,938

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

206
280

35
169

486

204

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

1,601
551
591
451
17
116

569
130
257
130
6
62

3,327

1,154

3. COST OF SALES

Food and drinks
Other costs of sales

4.	administrative expenses

Staff costs (see note 11)
Legal and professional fees
Property costs
Depreciation
Share option expenses
Other expenses
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5. FINANCE INCOME

Bank deposit interest

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

1

1

1

1

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

558
85
201
(23)

338
42
–
64

821

444

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

332
71
48
50

130
–
–
35

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

50

35

333
29

155
15

362

170

6. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans
Amortised loan arrangement fees
Lease finance (note 18)
Fair value of interest rate swaps

7. (LOSS) / Profit FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD

(Loss) / Profit for the financial period is arrived at after charging:
Depreciation on owned assets
Depreciation of assets under finance lease
Amortisation of intangible
Auditor’s remuneration for audit services
Amounts payable in respect of both audit and non-audit services are set out below:

Fees payable to the auditor for the audit of the company’s annual accounts
Fees payable to the auditor and its related entities for other services:
Corporate financial transactions
Taxation compliance services

The audit fees disclosed in 2015 represent the fees payable for the audit for the period ended 31 December 2015 and the
non-audit fees are those incurred in the period.
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8. Tax
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Current tax
Corporation tax

(29)

36

Total current tax
Deferred tax

(29)
21

36
(14)

(8)

22

Total tax (credit) / charge

The (credit) / charge for the period can be reconciled to the loss per the consolidated income statement as follows:
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

(Loss) / Profit before tax

(610)

137

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 20.25% (2014: 21.5%)
Factors affecting (credit) / charge for the period
Prior year adjustment Corporation Tax
Non-deductible items and other timing differences
Movement on deferred tax

(122)

29

29
122
21

–
7
(14)

(8)

22

Group tax (credit) / charge
Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities are included in note 19.

The Group has tax losses of approximately £1.1 million which are available for offset against future trading profits.

9. DIVIDEND
No dividend is proposed (2014: 0.3 pence per share).
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10. Earnings per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

(602)

115

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes
of basic (loss) / earnings per share
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

23,881
6,545

8,948
792

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes
of diluted (loss) / earnings per share

30,426

9,740

Basic (loss) / earnings per share
Diluted (loss) / earnings per share

(2.52p)
(2.52p)

(1.28p)
(1.28p)

(Loss) / Profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the company

There is no difference between the diluted loss per share and the basic loss per share presented. Due to the loss incurred in the
year the effect of the share options in issue is anti-dilutive.

11. STAFF COSTS
The average monthly number of employees (including directors) during the period was:
2015
Number

2014
Number

92
3

33
3

95

36

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other employment costs

1,466
124
11

525
41
3

Total staff costs

1,601

569

Hostel operation
Directors

The costs incurred in respect of employees (including directors) were:
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Freehold
land and
buildings
£’000

Leasehold
land and
buildings
£’000

Fixtures,
fittings
and
equipment
£’000

Total
£’000

–

–

–

–

Additions
Acquisitions
Revaluation

2,683
12,128
110

–
–
–

41
72
–

2,724
12,200
110

At 31 December 2014

14,921

–

113

15,034

Additions
Acquisitions

1,068
12,775

12,793
–

742
200

14,603
12,975

At 31 December 2015

28,764

12,793

1,055

42,612

–

–

–

–

Charge for the period
Revaluation

96
(96)

–
–

34
–

130
(96)

At 31 December 2014

–

–

34

34

152
(152)

71
–

180
–

403
(152)

At 31 December 2015

–

71

214

285

Net book value:
At 31 December 2015

28,764

12,722

841

42,327

At 31 December 2014

14,921

–

79

15,000

Cost or valuation
At 29 January 2014

Depreciation
At 29 January 2014

Charge for the year
Revaluation

The Directors consider the most recent valuations as an appropriate fair value of the freehold properties as at 31 December
2015. These are independently assessed based on applying discounted cash flows to forecasts of future earnings before
interest, taxation and depreciation (EBITDA) using the following assumptions relevant to the properties:

Elephant & Castle
Valuer:
Date:
Assumptions:

Edward Symmons LLP
29 April 2014
Cap rate 8% and discount 10.5%

Edinburgh
Valuer:
Date:
Assumptions:

Colliers International
10 August 2015
Yield 7.4%

York
Valuer:
Date:
Assumptions:

Edward Symmons LLP
12 November 2014
Yield 10.5%
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The revaluation surplus was credited to other comprehensive income and is shown in revaluation reserve. The freehold
properties are the only non-financial assets held at fair value. The valuations of these assets require significant inputs that
are not based on observable market data (level 3). The property’s current use equate to the highest and best use.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change
in circumstances that caused the transfer. No transfers occurred during the period.
The most significant inputs, all of which are unobservable, are forecast EBITDA and the capitalisation rate. The overall
valuations are sensitive to these assumptions and management considers the range of reasonably possible alternative
assumptions.
The following table details the sensitivity of changes in the underlying inputs:
Change in EBITDA

Change in Cap rate

-0.5%
0%
0.5%

5%
£’000

0%
£’000

-5%
£’000

32,256
31,271
29,856

31,218
29,800
28,431

29,651
28,292
27,016

The historical cost of property, plant and equipment is £28.8 million (2014: £14.9 million).
The group has pledged freehold property with a carrying value of £28.8 million (2014: £14.9 million) to secure banking facilities
and loan notes granted to the Group (note 17).
The valuation of the lease on the Holland Park property is stated at the present value of the future lease payments at a yield
of 6.5%. This constitutes the substantial part of a theoretical freehold valuation.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Note

Intangible
Asset
£’000

Goodwill
£’000

Total
£’000

26

1,400

525

1,925

At 31 December 2015

1,400

525

1,925

Amortisation
Charge for the period

48

–

48

At 31 December 2015

48

–

48

Net book value:
At 31 December 2015

1,352

525

1,877

Cost
Acquisitions

On the acquisition of the business on Smart City hostel in Edinburgh (note 26) the Director’s identified an intangible asset
in relation the lease with the University of Edinburgh, which terminates in 2027. After valuing all of the identifiable assets
and liabilities on the acquisition of the business, goodwill of £525,000 was recognised.
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

480
114

84
83

594

167

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

1,060

3,310

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

269
–
231
77
485

294
36
32
69
231

1,062

662

Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

The directors consider that the carrying amount of other receivables approximates to their fair value.

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents
All of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2015 are in sterling.
The directors consider that the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value.

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Corporation tax
Social security and other taxes
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases, customer deposits and operating costs.
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17. LOANS
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

At amortised cost
Bank Loan
Convertible loan
Loan notes

14,549
3,800
–

5,460
2,800
1,024

Loan arrangement fees

18,349
(265)

9,284
(184)

18,084

9,100

693
17,391

1,324
7,786

18,084

9,100

Loans repayable within one year
Loans repayable after more than one year

The bank facilities are summarised below:

Related Property
Elephant & Castle
Edinburgh
York
Holland Park

Principal
£’000

Outstanding as at
31 December 2015
£’000

Interest
rate

Term

£5,600
£6,500
£1,000
£2,000

£5,180
£6,419
£975
£1,975

LIBOR plus 3.25%
LIBOR plus 3%
LIBOR plus 3.25%
LIBOR plus 3%

5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years

Each of the bank loans have a term of five years on which interest is payable at between 3.00% and 3.25% over LIBOR. The
Group has given security to the bank including a first ranking charge over the Group’s freehold hostels in Elephant & Castle,
York and Edinburgh and a legal charge over the Holland Park property. There were no breaches in bank loan covenants as at
31 December 2015.
Convertible loan note terms:

Value
Issued
Term
Coupon rate
Conversion price per Ordinary Share at the option of the noteholder,
at any time prior to redemption

Secured (£’000)

Unsecured (£’000)

2,800
2 May 2014
3 years from issue
6%

1,000
11 September 2015
3 years from issue
5%

57.5p

70.0p

Secured convertible loan notes are by way of a charge over the Group’s hostel in Elephant & Castle, ranking after the security
granted to the bank.
The loan notes issued on 24 May 2014 were repaid on 24 April 2015. The rate of interest on loan notes was 0.75% per month for
the first 8 months followed by 11% for the remaining 3 months.
All of the Group’s loans disclosed above comprise borrowings in sterling.
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The repayment profiles of the loans are as follows:
Convertible
loan notes
£’000

Bank
loan
£’000

Other
loan
£’000

Total
£’000

Due within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years

–
3,800
–

755
755
13,039

–
–
–

755
4,555
13,039

Balance at 31 December 2015

3,800

14,549

–

18,349

Balance at 31 December 2014

2,800

5,460

1,024

9,100

18. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES
Present value
of minimum
lease payments
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years

65
158
10,038

–
–
–

Present value of future lease obligations

10,261

–

The group has treated the Holland Park lease as a finance lease on the basis that the present value of the lease payments
constitutes the substantial part of a theoretical freehold valuation.
The average effective borrowing rate was 6.55%. The lease is on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been
entered into for contingent rental payments.
The fair value of the group’s lease obligations is approximately equal to their carrying amount. The Group’s finance leases
disclosed above are in sterling.
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19. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred
tax assets

Deferred
tax
liabilities
£’000

Total
£’000

Balance as at 1 January 2015

147

(126)

21

Recognised in the income statement

(45)

24

(21)

Balance at 31 December 2015

102

(102)

–

Deferred tax assets relate to tax losses available for use against profits of future periods. Deferred tax liabilities relate primarily
to accelerated capital allowances.

20. CALLED UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL
£’000

Allotted, issued and fully paid
19,244,520 Ordinary Shares of 1p each as at 1 January 2015
14,974,615 Ordinary Shares of 1p each issued on 10 September 2015

192
150

34,219,135 Ordinary Shares of 1p each as at 31 December 2015

342

At the 31 December 2015, the ordinary shares rank pari passu. There are no changes to the voting rights of the ordinary shares
since the balance sheet date.

21. SHARE PREMIUM
£’000

Brought forward as at 1 January 2015
Share premium received on 14,974,615 Ordinary shares of 1p each			
10 September 2015 at 61p per share
Share issue costs

6,410
9,135
(1,041)

As at 31 December 2015

14,504

Share issue costs represent the costs of the placing and open offer on 10 September 2015.

22. Merger reserve
£’000

Share premium received on 3,617,246 Ordinary shares issued on
2 May 2014 at 49p per share to acquire Safestay (Elephant and Castle) Limited

1,772

Balance brought forward as at 1 January 2015 and carried forward as at 31 December 2015

1,772
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23. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
The company has granted share options to subscribe for ordinary shares of 1p each, as follows:
Number of share
options outstanding
Grant date

2 May 2014
3 June 2015

Exercise price
per share (pence)

Period within which
options are exercisable

2015

2014

50p
56p

2/5/2017 to 1/5/2024
3/6/2018 to 2/6/2025

1,057,389
132,000

1,189,562
–

1,189,389

1,189,562

The share options are exercisable at a price equal to the average quoted market price of the company’s shares on the date
of grant. The vesting period is 3 years from the date of grant and the share price must be a minimum of 60p. The options are
forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest.
Details of these share options are summarised in the table below:
2015

2014

Number
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

At 1 January 2015
Issued in the year / period
Forfeited in the year / period

1,189,562
132,000
(132,173)

At 31 December 2015
Exercisable at end of the year

Number
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

50p
56p
50p

1,189,562

50p

1,189,389

51p

1,189,562

50p

nil

nil

nil

nil

No options were exercised in the year.
A share based payment charge was calculated using the Black Scholes model to calculate the fair value of the share options.
The inputs are as follows

Weighted average share price
Weighted average exercise price
Expected volatility
Expected life
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield
The expected volatility percentage was derived from other comparable listed entities.

2015

2014

56.50p
60.80p
20.00%
7.00 years
0.25%
1.00%

50.00p
70.00p
20.00%
7.00 years
0.25%
1.00%
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24. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Loss) / Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Finance cost
Finance income
Share based payment charge
Changes in working capital:
Increase in inventory
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

(610)

137

451
821
(1)
17

130
444
(1)
6

(15)
(420)
400

(1)
(50)
(26)

643

639

25. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstances not otherwise dealt with
in the financial statements.
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26. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On 16 September 2015, Safestay plc acquired 100% of the assets of the Smart City hostel in Blackfriars Street in Edinburgh,
currently trading as Smart City Hostel by Safestay, Edinburgh.
Assets recognised at the date of acquisition were as follows:

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interest in head lease (note 13)
Current assets
Stock
Current liabilities
Advance deposits
Total assets
Consideration
Net assets acquired
Goodwill arising on acquisition
Consideration transferred:
Cash
Vendor shares issued 1,209,677 ordinary shares at 62p

Net Book
Value
£’000’s

Directors’
adjustment
£’000’s

Directors
valuations
£’000’s

14,900
–

(1,925)
1,400

12,975
1,400

16

(16)

–

(60)

60

–

14,856

(481)

14,375
14,900
14,375
525

14,150
750
14,900

As part of the placing and open offer, an external valuation of the Edinburgh business of £14.9 million was prepared by Colliers
International LLP as at 17 August 2015 using the discounted cash flows technique with a 7.4% yield applied to forecasts of future
earnings before interest, taxation and depreciation (EBITDA), reflecting both the hostel and student accommodation businesses.
Based on performance since acquisition and the strength of expected future performance, the value of the acquisition is fairly
reflected.
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group has taken advantage of the exemption contained within IAS 24 – ‘related party disclosures’ from the requirement
to disclose transactions between group companies as these have been eliminated on consolidation.
The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below.

Directors’ emoluments
Benefits in kind
Share based payments

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

118
10
17

22
–
6

145

28

Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
Details of directors share options is provided in the Directors’ remuneration report.
At the 31 December 2015, the group owed Safeland plc £76,000 (2014: £68,000). Safeland plc is related to Safestay plc by way
of common directors.

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Capital management
Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus debt.
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base with a view to underpinning investor, creditor and market confidence
and sustaining the future development of the business. Capital consists of ordinary shares, other capital reserves and retained
earnings. To this end, the Board monitors the Group’s performance at both a corporate and individual asset level and sets
internal guidelines for interest cover and gearing.
The executive directors monitor the Group’s current and projected financial position against these guidelines. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Retained earnings
Share based payment reserve
Revaluation reserve
Bank loans and convertible loans
The Group has no externally imposed capital requirements.

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

342
14,504
1,772
(545)
23
358
18,349

192
6,410
1,772
115
6
206
9,284
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Significant Accounting Policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and
equity instruments are disclosed in note 1 to these financial statements and in the tables below:

Categories of financial instruments
At 31 December 2015, the Group held the following financial assets:

Other receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

480
20
1,060

167
7
3,310

1,560

3,484

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

18,084
10,261
577
36

9,284
–
662
46

28,958

9,992

At 31 December 2015, the Group held the following financial liabilities:

Bank and convertible loans
Finance leases
Trade and other payables
Derivative financial instruments

Of the above financial liabilities, £36,000 (2014: £46,000) relates to financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss and
the remainder are financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans and overdrafts and trade and other payables approximate to their fair value.

Financial risk management
The Group’s financial instruments comprise bank loans and overdrafts, finance leases, cash and cash equivalents, availablefor-sale investments, derivative financial instruments and various items within trade and other receivables and payables that
arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the financial instruments are credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The board reviews and
agrees policies for managing these risks which are detailed below.

Credit risk
The principal credit risk arises from bookings where the customer does not show up and the beds cannot be resold. The terms
and conditions of any future booking received in advance requires the payment of a 10% deposit which is non-refundable. This
policy ensures that the risk of customers not fulfilling their booking is reduced.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings at variable rate expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk.
The Group enters into interest rate swaps to manage its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating-to-fixed and capped
interest rate swaps. The Group raises borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed or capped rates that are lower than
those available if the Group borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the swaps, the Group agrees with other parties to exchange
the difference between fixed contracts and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed notional amount.
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Liquidity risk
All of the Group’s long term borrowings are secured on the Group’s property portfolio. If the value of the portfolio were to fall
significantly, the Group risk breaching borrowing covenants. The board regularly review the Group’s gearing levels, cash flow
projections and associated headroom and ensure that excess banking facilities are available for future use.

Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its borrowings, which are at floating interest rates of between 3.00% and 3.25%
above the London inter-bank offer rate (LIBOR) shown in the table below. The Group carefully manages its interest rate risk on
an ongoing basis. In the period to 31 December 2015, the Group took out two interest rate instruments to manage its interest
rate risk. Further details of these swaps can be found in note 29 to these financial statements. The directors currently believe
that interest rate risk is at an acceptable level.
The interest rates for the Group’s borrowings are set out in the table below. All interest rates are at variable rate, unless stated,
and the rates disclosed include margins.
Interest rate
%

Fixed
£’000

Floating /
capped
£’000

2015
Borrowings
£’000

2014
Borrowings
£’000

3.81
3.83
6.00
5.00
5.32

–
–
2,800
1,000
1,365

3,815
9,369
–
–
–

3,815
9,369
2,800
1,000
1,365

4,095
–
2,800
1,024
1,365

5,165

13,184

18,349

9,284

Interest rate sensitivity
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for all borrowings subject to
interest charges at the statement of financial position date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of the liability outstanding at the statement of financial position date was outstanding for the whole year. A 0.25%
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
Based on bank borrowings, at 31 December 2015, if interest rates were 0.25% higher or (lower) and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s net profit would increase or decrease by £30,000 (2014: £7,000). This is attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparties will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
Customers’ bookings received in advance are made with a 10% non-refundable deposit to reduce the risk of lost revenue from
a cancellation.

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors. The board manages liquidity risk by
regularly reviewing the Group’s gearing levels, cash flow projections and associated headroom and ensuring that excess
banking facilities are available for future use. All of the Group’s long term borrowings are secured on the Group’s property
portfolio.

Liquidity and interest risk tables
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its all financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay including interest.
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In less
than
1 year
£’000

1-2
years
£’000

3-5
years
£’000

Total
£’000

590
75
75
36

590
75
2,875
–

10,639
1,215
2,215
–

11,819
1,365
5,165
36

776

3,540

14,069

18,385

Variable interest rate borrowings
Capped interest rate borrowings
Fixed interest rate borrowings
Derivative financial instruments

Movement in derivative financial instruments
2015
£’000
Assets

Acquisition
Changes in fair values:
Changes in credit risk
Other market factors

2014
£’000
Liabilities

18

£’000
Assets

£’000
Liabilities

25

–

–
2

–
(36)

–
(18)

–
(46)

20

(36)

7

(46)

All of the above loans are at a set interest rate above the Bank of England Base rate except for the financial borrowings which
are covered by an interest rate swap or an interest rate cap. The weighted average effective interest rate at 31 December 2015
was 5.26%.
In the period to 31 December 2015, all of the Group’s financial assets are non-interest bearing, except cash of £1,060,000
(2014: £3,310,000). All non-derivative financial assets are due within one year.

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
IFRS13 categorises financial assets and liabilities as being valued in 3 hierarchical levels:
–– Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).
–– Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).
–– Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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Financial assets
Freehold property
Derivative financial instruments assets

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments liabilities

Net fair value

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

–
–

–
20

28,764
–

28,764
20

–

20

28,764

28,784

–

(36)

–

(36)

–

(36)

–

(36)

–

(16)

28,764

28,748

As at the year end, the fair values of the Group’s outstanding derivative financial instruments, have been estimated by Coutts
and Co by calculating the present value of future cash flow, using appropriate market discount rates, representing Level 2 fair
value measurements as defined by IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurements’.
There were no transfers between levels in the period.

29. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
At 31 December 2015, the Group had two derivative financial instruments as detailed below.
•

The LIBOR rate on a notional loan of £1.365 million was swapped to a fixed rate of 2.675% until 6 May 2019. The fair value
of this financial instrument at 31 December 2015 was a liability of £36,000 (2014: £46,000).

•

The LIBOR rate on a notional loan of £1.365 million was capped at 3.00% until 6 May 2019. The fair value of this financial
instrument at 31 December 2015 was an asset of £20,000 (2014: £7,000).

Neither of these financial instruments has been designated as qualifying for hedge accounting and consequently the fair value
loss for the period has been taken to the income statement and disclosed within finance costs.
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Note

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

3
4

12,722
2,593

–
1,843

15,315

1,843

18,338
41

9,612
41

Total current assets

18,379

9,653

Total Assets

33,694

11,496

95
65
2,299

–
–
272

2,459

272

10,196
5,655

–
2,768

Total non-current liabilities

15,851

2,768

Net Assets

15,384

8,456

342
14,504
1,772
23
(1,257)

192
6,410
1,772
6
76

15,384

8,456

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash at bank and in hand

Current liabilities
Loans and overdrafts
Finance lease obligations
Trade and other payments

4

7
8
6

Current Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease obligations
Bank loans and convertible loan notes

Equity
Share capital
Share premium account
Merger reserve
Share based payment reserve
Profit and loss account
Equity attributable to the shareholders

8
7

9
10
11
12

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 April 2016.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

Larry Lipman
Chairman
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Merger
Reserve
£’000

Share
Based
Payment
Reserve
£’000

Retained
Earnings
£’000

Total
Equity
£’000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

76

76

–

–

–

–

76

76

192

6,410

1,772

–

–

8,374

–

–

–

6

–

6

192

6,410

1,772

6

76

8,456

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year

–

–

–

–

(1,275)

(1,275)

Total comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

(1,275)

(1,275)

150
–

8,094
–

–
–

–
–

–
(58)

8,244
(58)

–

–

–

17

–

17

342

14,504

1,772

23

(1,257)

15,384

Balance as at 29 Jan 2014
Comprehensive income
Profit for the period

Transactions with owners
Issue of shares
Share based payment charge
for the period
Balance at 31 December 2015

Transactions with owners
Issue of shares
Dividend paid
Share based payment charge
for the period
Balance at 31 December 2015

Share
Capital
£’000

Share
Premium
Account
£’000

–
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2015
£’000

2014
£’000

(1,275)

76

434
17
71

120
6
–

(73)
(66)

(126)
272

(892)

348

Investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets
Loans to subsidiaries

(2,271)
(6,560)

(34)
(9,486)

Net cash outflow from investing activities

(8,831)

(9,520)

Financing activities
New loans
Loan arrangement fees
Loan repayments
Issue of ordinary shares
Fees related to the issue of shares
Dividend paid
Interest paid

3,000
–
(487)
8,535
(1,041)
(58)
(226)

2,800
(40)
–
8,114
(1,549)
–
(112)

9,723

9,213

41

–

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

–

41

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

41

41

(Loss) / Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance cost
Share based payment charge
Depreciation
Changes in working capital:
Increase in trade and other receivables
Decrease in trade and other payables
Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities

Net cash generated from financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year / period
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1. LOSS / PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
The company has taken advantage of section 408 (3) of the Companies Act 2006 and consequently a profit and loss account for
the company alone has not been presented.
The company’s loss for the period was £1,275,000 (2014: Profit £76,000)

2. STAFF COSTS

The company’s average monthly number of employees (including directors)
during the period was:
Admin
Directors

The costs incurred in respect of these employees (including directors)
during the period were:
Wages and salaries

2015

2014

2
3

–
2

5

2

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

294

22

294

22

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold
Investment in
Property
£’000

Cost
At 29 January 2014
Additions

–
–

At 31 December 2014

–

Additions

12,793

At 31 December 2015

12,793

Depreciation
At 29 January 2014
Charge for the period

–
–

At 31 December 2014

–

Charge for the year

71

At 31 December 2015

71

Net book value
At 31 December 2015

12,722

At 31 December 2014

–
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4. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Shares in
subsidiary
undertakings
£’000

Cost
At 29 January 2014
Additions

–
1,843

At 31 December 2014

1,843

Additions

750

At 31 December 2014

2,593

Net book value
At 31 December 2015

2.593

At 31 December 2014

1,843

Shares in subsidiary undertakings
The subsidiaries at 31 December 2015 and their principal activities are as follows:
Direct ownership
WXZYZ2 Limited

Investment activities (dormant)

Safestay (York) Limited

Property owning activities

Safestay (Edinburgh) Limited

Property owning activities

Safestay (Edinburgh) Hostel Limited

Hostel operation

Safestay (HP) Limited
SS Barcelona 1 SL (Spain
SS Barcelona 2 SL (Spain)

Hostel operation
Dormant
Dormant

Indirect ownership
Safestay (Elephant and Castle) Limited

Hostel operation

Safestay (York) Hostel Ltd

Property owning activities

MREF II White Property Limited (Jersey)

Property owning activities

MREF II White GP Limited (Jersey)

Holding company (dormant)

MREF II White Limited Partnership (Jersey)

Holding company (dormant)

MREF II White Holdings Limited (Jersey)

Holding company (dormant)

Safestay (York) Hostel Limited

Hostel operation

Safestay (York) Hostel Limited

Real estate trading

All subsidiaries are incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales unless otherwise stated. All subsidiaries
operate in the United Kingdom. All subsidiaries are 100% owned.
On the 12 January 2015, Safestay plc signed a 50 year lease to rent a hostel property in Holland Park, West London. Investment
in property relates to value of the finance lease being capitalised and costs incurred to make the property habitable for Hostel
purposes. The lease payments are £660,000 per annum with an RPI increase every 5 years.
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5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Due within one year:
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings
VAT receivable
Other receivables and prepayments

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

18,139
108
91

9,486
43
83

18,338

9,612

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

104
2,101
54
40

85
8
22
157

2,299

272

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

1,880
3,800
(25)

–
2,800
(32)

5,655

2,768

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

95
2,895
2,785

–
–
2,800

5,775

2,800

6. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings
Other payables
Accruals and deferred income

7. BANK AND OTHER FINANCE LOANS

Bank Loan
Convertible loan notes
Loan arrangement fees

The loans are secured on properties owned by the Group.
The loans are repayable as follows:

In one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
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8. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES
Present value of
minimum lease
payments
2015
£’000

2014
£’000

Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years

65
158
10,038

–
–
–

Present value of future lease obligations

10,261

–

Analyses as:
Amounts due for settlement within 12 months
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months

65
10,196

–
–

10,261

–

The Company has treated the Holland Park lease as a finance lease. The average effective borrowing rate was 6.5%. The lease
is on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments.
The fair value of the Company’s lease obligations is approximately equal to their carrying amount. The Company’s finance
leases disclosed above are in sterling.

9. SHARE CAPITAL
£’000

Allotted, issued and fully paid
19,244,520 Ordinary shares of 1p each at 31 December 2014
14,974,615 Ordinary shares of 1p each issued on 10 September

192
150

34,219,135 Ordinary shares of 1p each as at 31 December 2015

342

At the 31 December 2015, the ordinary shares rank pari passu. There are no changes to the voting rights of the ordinary shares
since the balance sheet date.

10. SHARE PREMIUM
£’000

Brought forward as at 1 January 2015

6,410

Share premium received on 14,974,615 Ordinary shares of 1p
10 September 2015 at 61p per share
Share issue costs

9,135
(1,041)

Balance at 31 December 2014

14,504

Share issue costs represent the costs of the placing and open offer on 10 September 2015.
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11. MERGER RESERVE
£’000

Share premium received on 3,617,246 Ordinary shares issued
on 2 May 2014 at 49p per share on the acquisition of subsidiaries

1,772
1,772

12. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
The Company has granted share options to subscribe for ordinary shares of 1p each, as follows:

Grant date

Exercise price
per share (pence)

Period within which
options are exercisable

50p
56p

2/5/2017 to 1/5/2024
3/6/2018 to 2/6/2025

2 May 2014
3 June 2015

Number of share options
outstanding
2015

2014

1,057,389
132,000

1,189,562
–

1,189,389

1,189,562

The share options are exercisable at a price equal to the average quoted market price of the Company’s shares on the date
of grant. The vesting period is 3 years from the date of grant and the share price must be a minimum of 60p. The options are
forfeited if the employee leaves the Company before the options vest.
Details of these share options are summarised in the table below:
2015

2014

Number
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Number
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Brought forward 1 January 2015
Issued in the year / period
Forfeited in the year / period

1,189,562
132,000
(132,173)

50p
56p
50p

1,189,562

50p

Outstanding at end of the year

1,189,389

51p

1,189,562

50p

Exercisable at end of the year

nil

nil

nil

nil

No options were exercised in the period.
Details of the fair value of share options are shown in note 23 of the consolidated financial statements.
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below.

Directors’ emoluments
Share based payments

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

128
17

22
6

145

28

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

347
–
6,401
8
8,458
63
933
328
1,601

–
1,178
6,552
–
–
–
262
1,494

18,139

9,486

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

–
2,101

8
–

2,101

8

Amounts due from subsidiary companies

Safestay (Elephant and Castle) Limited
MREF II White Property Limited
WXYZ2 Limited
Safestay (Barcelona) Limited
Safestay (Edinburgh) Limited
Safestay (Edinburgh) Hostel Limited
Safestay (HP) Limited
Safestay (York) Hostel Limited
Safestay (York) Limited

Amounts due to subsidiary companies

Safestay (Elephant and Castle) Limited
MREF II White Property Limited

Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
Further details about the directors share options are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
At the 31 December 2015, the Company owed Safeland plc £30,000 (2014: £22,000). Safeland plc is related to Safestay plc by way
of common directors.

14. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstances not otherwise dealt with
in the financial statements.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Safestay Holland Park, Holland Walk,
Kensington, London W8 7QU on 7 June 2016 at 11.00am to consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions of which
resolutions numbered 1 to 4 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and of which resolutions numbered 5 and 6 will be
proposed as special resolutions:

Ordinary Business
1

That the report of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and financial statements for the financial period ended
31 December 2015 be received and adopted.

2

That Philip Houghton be elected as a director of the Company.

3

That Grant Thornton UK LLP be re-appointed as auditors of the Company and the directors be authorised to fix
their remuneration.

Special Business
4

That:
4.1	the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised pursuant to section 551 of the Companies
Act 2006 to exercise all powers of the Company to allot any shares in the Company and to grant rights to subscribe
for or convert any security into shares in the Company up to an aggregate maximum nominal amount of £114,063
which represents approximately 33.3 percent of the current issued ordinary share capital of the Company,
(“Ordinary Shares”) provided that this authority shall expire (unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in
general meeting) on the earlier of the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company to be held in
2017 and 30 June 2017 save that the Company shall be entitled to make, prior to the expiry of such authority, any
offer or agreement which would or might require shares to be allotted or rights to subscribe for or convert any
security into shares to be granted after the expiry of such authority and the directors may allot shares or grant
rights to subscribe for or convert securities into shares in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority
conferred hereby had not expired; and
4.2	the authority granted by this resolution shall replace all existing authorities to allot any shares in the Company and
to grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security into shares in the Company previously granted to the
directors pursuant to section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (save to the extent that the same are exercisable
pursuant to section 551(7) of the Companies Act 2006 by reason of any offer or agreement made prior to the date of
this resolution which would or might require shares to be allotted or rights to be granted on or after that date).

5

That:
5.1	the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally empowered pursuant to section 571(1) of the
Companies Act 2006 (a) subject to the passing of Resolution 4, to allot equity securities (as defined in section 560
of the Companies Act 2006) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 4; and (b) to allot equity
securities (as defined in section 560(3) of the Companies Act 2006 (sale of treasury shares)) for cash, in either
case as if section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 did not apply to such allotment, provided that this power shall
be limited to:

		

5.1.1	the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue, open offer or otherwise in favour of
ordinary shareholders where the equity securities respectively attributable to the interest of all ordinary
shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held
by them and for the purposes of this resolution “rights issue” means an offer of equity securities open for
acceptance for a period fixed by the directors to holders on the register on a fixed record date of Ordinary
Shares in proportions to their respective holdings.

		

5.1.2	the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to paragraph 5.1.1 above) of equity securities up to an aggregate
maximum nominal value of £34,219, which represents approximately 10 percent of Ordinary Shares, and
shall (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed by the Company in general meeting) expire on the
earlier of the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2017 and 30
June 2017 save that the Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or
might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot equity securities
pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if the power hereby conferred had not expired; and

Safestay plc Report and Financial Statements 2015 I Page 69

5.2
		

all previous unutilised authorities conferred under section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 shall cease to have effect
and shall be and are hereby revoked provided that such revocation shall not have retrospective effect.

6	That the Company be and is hereby authorised for the purpose of section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 to make market
purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Companies Act 2006) of Ordinary Shares, on such terms and in
such manner as the directors may from time to time determine, provided that:
6.1	the maximum number of Ordinary Shares authorised to be purchased is 5,132,870 being such number of Ordinary
Shares as represents approximately 15.0 per cent of the current issued Ordinary Share capital of the Company;
6.2	the minimum price (exclusive of any expenses) which may be paid for any Ordinary Share shall be not less than
1 pence, being the nominal value of each Ordinary Share;
6.3	the maximum price (exclusive of any expenses) which may be paid for any Ordinary Share shall be not more than
the higher of:
		

6.3.1	5 per cent above the average of the market value for an Ordinary Share as derived from the Daily Official
List of the London Stock Exchange plc for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which
the Ordinary Share is contracted to be purchased; and

		

6.3.2	the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid for an
Ordinary Share on the Daily Official List of the London Stock Exchange plc at the time the purchase is
carried out;

6.4	unless previously renewed, varied or revoked, this authority shall expire on the earlier of the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2017 and 30 June 2017; and
6.5	the Company may make a contract to purchase Ordinary Shares under this authority before its expiry which will or
may be executed wholly or partly thereafter and may make a purchase of Ordinary Shares in pursuance of any such
contract as if such authority had not expired.
By order of the Board.

Mark Beveridge
Company Secretary
11 April 2011

Registered Office
1A Kingsley Way
London N2 0FW
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
Period ended 31 December 2015
NOTES
THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION
1.

If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take, you should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant
or other professional adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 immediately.

2.

If you have sold or transferred all your ordinary shares in the Company, please send this document and the enclosed form of proxy
to the stockbroker, or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected, for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

3.

 shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote instead of that
A
shareholder. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the
meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share held by the appointing shareholder.

4.

 o be effective, the relevant proxy form must be completed and lodged with the Company’s registrar, Capita Asset Services, 34
T
Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU, no later than 48 hours before the meeting together with the original of any power of
attorney or other authority under which the form of proxy is signed. In the case of a corporation, the form of proxy must be executed
under its common seal or under the hand of any officer or attorney duly authorised. You can only appoint a proxy using the procedures
set out in these notes and the notes to the form of proxy. Completion and return of the relevant proxy form enclosed herewith will not
prevent a shareholder from attending and voting in person. If you have appointed a proxy and attend the meeting in person, your proxy
appointment will automatically be terminated.

5.

 vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the
A
resolution. If no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his / her discretion. Your proxy will vote
(or abstain from voting) as he / she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put before the meeting.

6.

 REST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the
C
Annual General Meeting and any adjournment(s) of the meeting by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST
personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s),
should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf. In
order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST
Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications and must contain
the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes
the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be
transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s agent (ID RA10) no later than 48 hours before the meeting. For this purpose, the time
of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from
which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any
change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means. CREST
members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s) should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited
does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will
therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take
(or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure
that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted
by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST
sponsors or voting service provider(s) are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations
of the CREST system and timings. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in
Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.

7.

In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the appointment submitted
by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority is determined by the order in which the names of the joint holders appear in
the Company’s register of members in respect of the joint holding (the first-named being the most senior).

8.

 he Company, pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, specifies that only those members
T
registered in the Register of Members of the Company at 6.00 p.m. on 3 June 2016 (or if the Annual General Meeting is adjourned,
members entered on the Register of Members of the Company not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the adjourned Annual
General Meeting) shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting in respect of the number of ordinary shares
registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the Register of Members of the Company after 6.00pm on 3 June 2016 shall
be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend, speak or vote at the Meeting.

9.

 ny corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all of its powers
A
as a member provided that, if it is appointing more than one corporate representative, it does not do so in relation to the same shares.
It is therefore no longer necessary to nominate a designated corporate representative.

10. C
 opies of the service agreements of the Executive Directors and the letters of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors will be
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours on any week day (but not at weekends or on
public holidays) up to and including the date of the Annual General Meeting. Copies of all the above mentioned documents will also be
available on the date of the Annual General Meeting at the place of the meeting for 15 minutes prior to the meeting until its conclusion.
11. E
 xcept as provided above, members who have general queries about the meeting should write to the Company Secretary at the address
of our registered office. You may not use any electronic address provided either in this notice of Annual General Meeting or any related
documents (including the proxy form) to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated.
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Annual General Meeting Proxy Form
Period ended 31 December 2015

Before completing this form, please read the explanatory notes overleaf
I/We being a member of the Company appoint the Chairman of the meeting or (see note 4 on p72)

as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Safestay
Holland Park, Holland Walk, Kensington, London W8 7QU on 7 June 2016 at 11.00am and at any adjournment of the meeting.
I/We direct my/our proxy to vote on the following resolutions as I/we have indicated by marking the appropriate box with an ‘X’.
If no indication is given, my/our proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his or her discretion and I/we authorise my/our proxy
to vote (or abstain from voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put before the meeting.

RESOLUTIONS								

For

Against

Abstain

1.	THAT the report of the directors and financial statements for the
financial period ended 31 December 2015 be received and adopted.
2.

THAT Philip Houghton be elected as a director of the Company.

3.

THAT Grant Thornton UK LLP be re-appointed as auditors of the
Company and the directors be authorised to fix their remuneration.

4.

THAT the directors be authorised to allot shares pursuant to
section 551 of the Companies Act 2006.

5.

THAT section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 be disapplied.

6.	THAT the Company be authorised to purchase its own shares
pursuant to section 701 of the Companies Act 2006.

			
Signature

Date

			
Share Registered Name							
										

Please return the proxy form in the reply paid envelope provided.

Quantity of Shareholding
(Please see notes 4 & 5 on p72)
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE PROXY FORM
1. A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote
instead of that shareholder. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A shareholder may appoint more than one
proxy in relation to the meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share
held by the appointing shareholder.
2. To be effective, this form and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed must be lodged with
the Company’s registrars at Capita Asset Services, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU not later than 48
hours before the meeting. In the case of a corporation, this proxy must be executed under its common seal or under the
hand of any officer or attorney duly authorised.
3. In the case of joint holders, the vote of the first name on the register who tenders a vote whether in person or by proxy will
be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders.
4. If you wish to appoint as your proxy someone other than the Chairman of the meeting, delete the words “the Chairman
of the meeting” and insert the name of your chosen proxy in the space provided in the first box. If the proxy is being
appointed in relation to part of your holding only, please enter in the box next to the proxy’s name the number of shares
in relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy. If this box is left blank, they will be authorised in respect of
your full voting entitlement. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
5. To appoint more than one proxy, (an) additional proxy form(s) may be obtained by contacting the Company’s registrar,
Capita Asset Services, on 0871 664 0300. Calls cost 12p per minute plus your phone company’s access charge. If you
are outside the United Kingdom, please call +44 371 664 0300. Calls outside the United Kingdom will be charged at the
applicable international rate. We are open between 9.00 am – 5.30 pm, Monday to Friday excluding public holidays in
England and Wales or you may copy this form. Please indicate in the box next to the proxy holder’s name the number
of shares in relation to which they are authorised to act as your proxy. Multiple proxy appointments should be returned
together in the same envelope.
6. Any alteration should be initialled by the person signing this proxy.
7. Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate boxes how you wish your votes on the resolutions to be cast. Unless
otherwise instructed, your proxy may vote or abstain from voting as he/she thinks fit. The “Abstain” option is to enable
you to abstain on any particular resolution. A vote abstained will be treated as a vote withheld and is not a vote in law,
which means that the vote will not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the resolution. If no voting
indication is given, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion.
8. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may
do so for the Annual General Meeting and any adjournment(s) of the meeting by using the procedures described in the
CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have
appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able
to take the appropriate action on their behalf.
9. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message
(a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s
specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The
message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a
previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s agent (RA10)
no later than 48 hours before the meeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined
by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the Company’s agent is able to
retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions
to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.
10. You can only appoint a proxy using the procedures set out in these notes and the notes to the Notice of Annual General
Meeting. Completion and return of the proxy form will not prevent a shareholder from attending and voting in person.
If you have appointed a proxy and attend the meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated.
If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt
of proxies will take precedence.
11. To have the right to attend, speak and vote (and also for the purpose of calculating how many votes a person may cast),
a person must have his/her name entered on the Register of Members of the Company by no later than 6.00pm on
3 June 2016 or, in the event that the meeting is adjourned, 48 hours prior to the date of the adjourned meeting. Changes
to entries on the Register of Members after this time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to
attend, speak or vote at the meeting.
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